71007-9

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AHMAD ABDEL-WAHED,

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Ahmad Abdel-Wahed asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this Petition.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ahmad Abdel-Wahed seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision, filed on October 27, 2014, its Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, filed on December 9, 2014, and its award of attorney fees, entered on December 15, 2014. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-9. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at pages A-10. A copy of its award of attorney fees is in the Appendix at pages A-11.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in creating a new nonstatutory exception to the constitutional protections of the Homestead Act?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in in creating a new nonstatutory exception to the constitutional protections of the Homestead Act and upholding the imposition of a constructive trust on exempt proceeds, *sua sponte*, in a declaratory judgment

proceeding after declaring that none of the alleged exceptions had been established, as a matter of law?

3. Did the Court of Appeals err in awarding attorney fees to the Respondent, pursuant to RCW 26.09.140, without requiring compliance with RAP 18.1(c), without determining the Respondent's need, the Petitioner's ability to pay, or the merits of the appeal?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In their dissolution proceeding, Abdel-Wahed was awarded his separate property, the home the parties had purchased in 2000, a car, and portions of certain investment accounts. Gass was awarded a car and certain investment accounts.<sup>1</sup> CP 274-300.

While the awards of community property were of equal value, there is no evidence that one party's award was in exchange for or in consideration of the other party's award, or that the awards were "offsetting" (as the Court of Appeals asserts in its decision, p.1).

No judgment or lien was created by the Decree of Dissolution.

In the fall of 2010, shortly after the Decree was entered on August 24, 2010, Abdel-Wahed became seriously ill. CP 148-149. He began having syncopal episodes, in which he would lose consciousness for hours at a time. In the winter and early part of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For ease of consideration, the parties shall be referred to by their last names. No disrespect is intended.

2011, he continued passing out and was hospitalized. He became unable to work. In the fall of 2012, he was hospitalized again with pseudomembranous colitis and pancreatitis. He was found to have developed acute renal failure with greater than 50% impairment of kidney function. CP 149.

He has been on an indefinite unpaid medical leave from his job at Microsoft ever since. He has remained very ill, and has only been able to work sporadically. CP 374.

Following the entry of the Decree of Dissolution, Gass delayed transferring the monies from the investment accounts awarded to her for a considerable period of time. During that delay, stock values declined and stock options expired. By the time Gass sought to obtain these monies, these investment accounts had lost substantial value due to market forces.<sup>2</sup> CP 374.

In the meantime, Abdel-Wahed used some of the funds in the accounts which had been awarded to Gass to meet his living expenses. CP 374. However, there is **no** evidence that he used any of the funds which had been awarded to Gass to pay his mortgage or any other expense associated with his homestead.

When Gass discovered that Abel-Wahed had taken funds

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See footnote 1 of Appellant's Opening Brief.

awarded to her, she obtained an Order on Show Cause re Contempt/
Judgment by default, on August 8, 2012, totaling \$190,318.35 for
the amounts the Decree had awarded her from these accounts,
unpaid maintenance, interest, and attorney fees. CP 352-356.

Gass did not record her judgment, so it did not become a lien against Abel-Wahed's homestead property.<sup>3</sup>

Gass then obtained an order forcibly removing Abdel-Wahed from his home on September 14, 2012. CP 5. Abdel-Wahed filed a Declaration of Homestead on September 28, 2012, CP 2, even though he had had an automatic homestead on this property from the time it became his home in June of 2000. RCW 6.13.040(1).

Gass then obtained an order from the Court on October 9, 2012, to list and subsequently to sell Abdel-Wahed's home. CP 2.

The home sold on November 30, 2012. From the net sale proceeds of \$175,074.08, CP 93, Abdel-Wahed paid his unpaid maintenance obligation to Gass. CP 375, 412.

Gass then filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Other
Relief seeking a judgment declaring that the Abdel-Wahed's
homestead exemption did not bar the execution of her judgment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mahalko v. Arctic Trading Co., 99 Wash.2d 30, 659 P.2d 502 (1983), overruled on other grounds by Felton v. Citizens Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 101 Wash.2d 416, 424, 679 P.2d 928 (1984); RCW 6.13.090.

against the proceeds of the sale of his homestead, on the grounds that the homestead exemption is not available against debts arising from obligations to pay maintenance, pursuant to RCW 6.13.080(4), (even though the maintenance obligation had already been paid); or judgments obtained on vendor's liens, pursuant to RCW 6.13.080(1)<sup>4</sup>. CP 1-3.

On cross-motions for summary judgment, CP 8-119; 131-146; 148-149; 153-159; 211-267; 305-412, the Honorable Dean Lum found, as a matter of law, "that no vendor's lien exists because the plaintiff [Gass] is not a purchaser of the property, and no owelty lien<sup>5</sup> exists because the original Decree did not explicitly include language imposing such a lien". CP 202. The court also denied Gass' Motion to Modify Property Division in Decree, pursuant to CR 60, CP 160-182, filed shortly before the summary judgment hearing. CP 97-198.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RCW 6.13.080 provides in pertinent part:

The homestead exemption is not available against an execution or forced sale in satisfaction of judgments obtained:

<sup>(1)</sup> On debts secured by mechanic's, laborer's, construction, maritime, automobile repair, materialmen's or vendor's liens arising out of and against the particular property claimed as a homestead. (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A lien awarded in a dissolution proceeding to equalize distribution of jointly held or community property is an owelty lien. In *In Re Stone*, 119 B.R. 222, 230-231 (Bkrtcy. E.D. Wash. 1990); *Hartley v. Liberty Park Assocs.*, 54 Wash.App. 434, 438, 774 P.2d 40, 42 (1989).

No appeal was taken from these rulings.

Nonetheless, even though such relief was not requested in Gass' Complaint, the superior court, *sua sponte*, imposed a constructive trust on the remaining net sale proceeds in the amount of those funds "awarded to plaintiff in the original Decree, consisting of \$50,400 in maintenance (which has now been paid) and \$96,760.35 for the investment assets that were not transferred to the plaintiff". CP 201.

The lower court based its ruling on its conclusion that "the defendant intentionally and in bad faith "looted' the investment accounts which were supposed to be transferred to plaintiff as part of the Decree...[and] that the Homestead Statute exemption cannot be used to facilitate unjust enrichment or fraud, and the court in equity may impose a constructive trust." CP 201.

To uphold the court below, Division I created a new unrequested nonstatutory exception to the Homestead Act:

Where a party has wrongfully obtained funds belonging to another and there is a sufficient connection between the wrongfully obtained funds and the homestead property, a court may impose the equitable remedy of a constructive trust on proceeds received from the sale of that property.

Division I also awarded the Respondent her attorney fees and

costs, pursuant to RCW 26.09.140, even though neither party filed the Financial Affidavit, required by RAP 18.1(c). In making this award, Division I made no determination regarding Gass' need or Abdel-Wahed's ability to pay, or the merits of the appeal.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Court Of Appeals Erred By Creating A New Nonstatutory Exception To The Constitutional Protections Of The Homestead Act.

Article 19, section 1 of the Washington State Constitution states:

The legislature shall protect by law from forced sale a certain portion of the homestead and other property of all heads of families.

In *In re Poli's Estate*, 27 Wash.2d 670, 674, 179 P.2d 704 (1947), this Court held:

The right of homestead under our constitution and the statute enacted pursuant thereto is not a mere privilege or exemption of such an estate as the holder has in the land, but is an absolute right intended to secure and protect the homesteader and his dependents in the enjoyment of a domicile.

As this Court explained in *In re Dependency of Schermer*, 161 Wash.2d 927, 953,169 P.3d 452 (2007):

The homestead act "implements the policy that each citizen have a home 'where [the] family may be sheltered and live beyond the reach of financial misfortune.' " [citations omitted]. The act is favored in law and courts construe it liberally so it may achieve

its purpose of protecting family homes.

In Fed. Intermediate Credit Bank of Spokane v. O/S
Sablefish, 111 Wn.2d 219, 227-228, 758 P.2d 494 (1998), this Court
held that a "homestead cannot be sold to satisfy a judgment lien
which does not qualify as one of the statutory exceptions to the
homestead exemption listed in RCW 6.13.080", or the one
nonstatutory exception created in Webster v. Rodrick, 64 Wn.2d
814, 819, 394 P.2d 689 (1964). The homestead is "a species of
land tenure exempt from execution and forced sale in all but the
enumerated circumstances." City of Algona v. Sharp, 30 Wn. App.
837, 843, 638 P.2d 627 (1982), review denied, 109 Wn.2d 1009
(1987).

The superior court found that none of the exceptions specified in RCW 6.13.080 apply here, as a matter of law. CP 202. No appeal was taken from these rulings. Thus, these rulings are now the law of the case, are not subject to review, and cannot be re-litigated. State v. Hubbard, 103 Wash.2d 570, 574, 693 P.2d 718 (1985).

The only nonstatutory exception to the Homestead Act was created in *Webster v. Rodrick, supra,* when this Court reversed an order denying plaintiff's motion to declare defendants' homestead declaration invalid where the evidence showed that the defendant

had purchased and improved the property in question with funds embezzled from the plaintiff. That exception was not pled. CP 1-3.

Even so, in *Webster v. Rodrick*, 64 Wn.2d at 816-817, this

Court was careful to distinguish its holding from the factual situation found here, where the wrongfully obtained funds had not been used to purchase the homestead property, even though those funds unjustly enriched the defendant:

We are aware of *Brown v. Manos*, 140 Wash. 525, 250 P. 36 (1926) (not cited by plaintiff). Therein plaintiff secured a judgment against defendant for the wrongful and fraudulent use of partnership funds. Although defendant's homestead exemption was upheld, the decision is not apposite because there was no showing that the person claiming the homestead had purchased the property with funds stolen from the judgment creditor. Further, the record indicates that the property had been purchased by defendant long before the facts constituting the judgment creditor's cause of action arose.

Likewise here, there was no showing---nor could there be---that Abdel-Wahed purchased or improved his homestead property with funds stolen from Gass. The "property had been purchased by defendant long before the facts constituting the judgment creditor's cause of action arose." *Id.* Abdel-Wahed acquired his homestead automatically when it was purchased in June of 2000. RCW 6.13.040. Gass' judgment(s) are based on

events which happened, or did not happen, until after the home had been awarded to Abdel-Wahed in the Decree as his separate property----namely, improper transfers of money from various accounts, unpaid maintenance, interest and attorney fees.

Since *Webster v. Rodrick, supra,* our courts have uniformly held that courts should not read any additional exceptions into the Homestead Act not contained in the statutory list, and that any further exceptions should be made *only* by the legislature.<sup>6</sup>

Yet, disregarding any semblance of judicial deference,

Division I created an entirely new and expansive exception in direct conflict with *Webster v. Rodrick*, 64 Wash.2d at 818–819, *Brown v. Manos*, *supra*, and their progeny, that the homestead exemption is unavailable *only* if "the homestead claimant acquires the funds *used to purchase* the homestead by fraud or theft." Abdel-Wahed did not.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Christensen v. Christgard, Inc., 35 Wash.App.626, 631, 668 P.2d 1301(1983)("If mere "wrongful" conduct is to remove the protections afforded by RCW 6.12.090, this determination should be made by the Legislature rather than the courts."); City of Algona v. Sharp, 30 Wash. App. at 842 ("The legislature has listed several types of liens which may be executed against a homestead." Assessment liens" are not among them. The maxim "expressio unius est exclusio alterius" is the law in Washington, barring a clearly contrary legislative intent."); See also, In re Cunningham, 163 B.R. 593, 595 (Bkrtcy. W.D.Wash. 1994)("Based on the cases of Algona v. Sharp and Pinebrook Homeowners Association v. Owen, [48 Wash. App. 424, 739 P.2d 110 (1987)] this Court should not read into the homestead statute any exceptions that are not contained in the statutory list.").

See also, Washington Constitution Article XIX, § 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See eg. Casterline v. Roberts, 168 Wash. App. 376, 386, 284 P.3d 743(2012); Pinebrook Homeowners Ass'n v. Owen, 48 Wash. App. at 430; Christensen v. Christgard, Inc., 35 Wash. App. at 629; Dunham v. Tabb, 27 Wash. App. 862, 867, 621 P.2d 179 (1980).

There is no legal authority which permitted Division I to create a new exception to the protections of the Homestead Act whenever "a party has wrongfully obtained funds belonging to another and there is a *sufficient connection*"--- whatever that might mean --- "between the wrongfully obtained funds and the homestead property", which would then permit a court, acting *sua sponte*, to "impose the equitable remedy of a constructive trust on proceeds received from the sale of that property."

If Division I's holding is that there is a "sufficient connection" whenever the homestead property is awarded to one spouse as that spouse's separate property during the course of a dissolution proceeding, as it suggests (Decision, pp. 8-9), then its ruling is in direct conflict with the holding of Division III in *Baker v. Baker*, 149 Wash. App. 208, 202 P.3d 983 (2009). In *Baker v. Baker*, 149 Wash. App. at 210, on facts like those found here, the court awarded Mr. Baker certain real property as his separate property, and Mrs. Baker a \$2,000,000 judgment, with interest to be paid in \$20,000 monthly installments. When Mr. Baker failed to make these payments, Mrs. Baker obtained a judgment on the delinquent amounts and sought a writ of execution on the property which had been awarded to Mr. Baker. In affirming the lower court's refusal to

permit Mrs. Baker from executing her judgment against Mr. Baker's homestead, the Court in *Baker v. Baker*, 149 Wash. App. at 212 held:

In view of the public policy involved in our homestead statutes, the sanctity with which the legislature has attempted to surround and protect homestead rights, and the guidance provided by our Supreme Court and other state courts, the parcels that surround Mr. Baker's residence are exempt under Washington's homestead act. The trial court correctly concluded likewise.

If Division I's holding is that there is a "sufficient connection" between the wrongfully obtained funds and the homestead when such funds are used to make "mortgage payments on the home" (Decision, p. 9),<sup>8</sup> then it is both legally and factually incorrect.

While Abdel-Wahed admitted that he "used investment account funds to meet his living expenses", CP 374, there is **no** evidence that he used any of these funds to pay the "mortgage payments on the home", or for any other expense associated with his homestead, or that the purloined funds had been co-mingled with the funds he used to pay these expenses.

Division I just got its facts wrong.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> According to Division I's expansive new nonstatutory exception to the Homestead Act, apparently *any* connection between the wrongfully obtained funds and the homestead would eliminate all constitutional protections for the entire amount of any wrongfully obtained funds, regardless of how nominal the amount used to pay a mortgage may have been. But in this case no funds were so used.

As this Court explained in Fed. Intermediate Credit Bank of Spokane v. O/S Sablefish, 111 Wn.2d at 229-230:

The persistent theme of our homestead case law is that "[h]omestead statutes are enacted as a matter of public policy in the interest of humanity and thus are favored in the law and are accorded a liberal construction." *Macumber v. Shafer*, 96 Wn.2d 568, 570, 637 P.2d 645 (1981); See Also, *First Nat'l Bank v. Tiffiany*, 40 Wn.2d 193, 202, 242 P.2d 169(1952) (homestead statutes do not protect the rights of creditors; rather they are in derogation of such rights)....

Division I's ruling is in direct conflict with the cases cited, and the evidence in this case. This Court should accept review.

2. The Lower Court Lacked Jurisdiction Or Authority To Create A New Exception To The Homestead Act Where No Such Relief Had Been Requested And/Or To Impose A Constructive Trust, Sua Sponte, In A Declaratory Judgment Proceeding.

Jurisdiction exists because of a constitutional or statutory provision. Issues regarding the lower court's jurisdiction may be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wash.2d 595, 600-601, 980 P.2d 1257(1999); RAP 2.5(a).

An action under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (UDJA) is a statutory proceeding. RCW 7.24.010<sup>9</sup>. Accordingly,

Courts of record within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> 7.24.010. Authority of courts to render

"the jurisdiction and authority of the courts are prescribed by the applicable legislative enactment"...and "the court does not have any power that cannot be inferred from a broad interpretation of the act in question." *Arneson v. Arneson*, 38 Wash.2d 99, 100-101, 227 P.2d 1016 (1951).

The Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (UDJA) only grants the court "the power to declare rights, status, and other legal relations...". It is the appropriate method to determine questions of construction, or the validity of a statute or ordinance. RCW 7.24.020; Nollette v. Christianson, 115 Wash.2d 594, 598, 800 P.2d 359 (1990); Cary v. Mason County, 132 Wash.App. 495, 501, 132 P.3d 157 (2006). It does not give the court authority to fashion relief beyond that declaration regardless of "whether or not further relief is or could be claimed." Thus, in Peoples Park and Amusement Ass'n v. Anrooney, 200 Wash. 51, 59, 193 P.2d 362(1939), this Court held:

The purpose of the Declaratory Judgment Act is to declare rights rather than to execute them. It is not within contemplation of the act that in the construction and interpretation of an instrument, such as that now before us, that the court should make a declaration whether the law is that the

rights, status and other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be claimed. An action or proceeding shall not be open to objection on the ground that a declaratory judgment or decree is prayed for. The declaration may be either affirmative or negative in form and effect; and such declarations shall have the force and effect of a final judgment or decree.

tenant is liable for waste and the contract forfeited because of the breach of some implied duty or whether the law is that the contract may be forfeited for default in payment of rent required under one of the covenants of the contract.

And so, in *Bainbridge Citizens United v. Washington State*Dept. of Natural Resources, 147 Wash. App. 365, 374-375, 198 P.3d

1033 (2008), Division II held that the Uniform Declaratory Judgments

Act (UDJA) grants courts the general power to declare rights, status, and other legal relations, but does not grant courts the authority to determine their administration or application.

Similarly, in *City of Tacoma v. City of Bonney Lake*, 173
Wash.2d 584, 595, 269 P.3d 1017 (2012), this Court held that once the lower court had declared the rights, status, and other legal relations between the parties to certain franchise agreements by finding that those agreements required the City of Tacoma to provide and to maintain the hydrants which were dispositive of the issues presented by the declaratory judgment act, the lower court properly refused to determine who was responsible for the ongoing costs and maintenance of those hydrants.

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