INTRODUCTION 

This is a consolidated case involving post decree relief in an 

action for Dissolution of Marriage and related post Decree 

Declaratory Judgment Action. The case arises out of the parties' 

2010 action dissolving their marriage to one another, wherein the 

Decree of Dissolution awarded the marital home to Mr. Abdel-

Wahed and awarded an offsetting equal amount of the parties' 
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financial accounts to Ms. Gass. Thereafter, Mr. Abdei-Wahed 

failed to transfer the financial accounts to his former wife and 

instead made substantial withdrawals from those accounts. Ms. 

Gass obtained contempt judgments against Mr. Abdei-Wahed 

together with orders on contempt forcing Mr. Abdei-Wahed to 

vacate the home awarded to him in the Decree of Dissolution and 

allowing Ms. Gass to sell the property. Mr. Abdei-Wahed then filed 

a Declaration of Homestead and after the sale claimed the 

proceeds of sale were protected by the homestead exemption. 

Thereafter, Ms. Gass filed a declaratory action to determine 

the scope of the homestead exemptions in this case. She also filed 

a motion to modify the Decree to award her the real property and 

award Mr. Abdei-Wahed the investment accounts he had already 

looted. The trial court concluded that the homestead exemption 

could not be used to facilitate unjust enrichment or fraud and 

imposed a constructive trust on a portion of the proceeds of sale in 

favor of Ms. Gass. Mr. Abdei-Wahed appealed that decision and 

the Court of Appeals affirmed. 
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COUNTER STATEMENT OF CASE 

The material facts supporting this motion are as follows: 

1. The parties to this action were formerly married to one 

another. Their marriage was dissolved and a Decree of 

Dissolution of Marriage was entered on August 24, 2010. 

CP. 306-311. 

2. The Decree of Dissolution incorporated by reference the 

handwritten decision of Arbitrator Harry Slusher, dated May 

30. 2010, which divided the parties' property according to a 

matrix reproduced verbatim below. CP, 402. 
- -~ --·--;------- ---~ ----,----- ------~. ----------.--------------1 

· ; Husband : W1fe 1 

. IRA (W) 

i '06 Chrysler 
'-----

1 '07 Toyota 
I 
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-- - . 
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18,285 
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l 
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3. The Decree also awarded the Ms. Gass spousal 

maintenance. CP, 309. 

4. The Mr. Abdei-Wahed failed and refused to transfer the 

various accounts to Ms. Gass. withdrew funds from the 

Fidelity and Smith Barney accounts and failed to pay the 

spousal maintenance ordered in the Decree. Even before 

entry of the Decree of dissolution, Mr. Abdei-Wahed began 

making large withdrawals from the Fidelity account in 

violation of the Court's Temporary Restraining Order 

entered on March 5, 2010. CP, 268. The Arbitrator's 

Decision was handed down on April 24, 2010 and revised 

on May 30. 2010. The Decree incorporating the Arbitrator's 

Decision was entered on August 24, 2010. Mr. Abdei

Wahed withdrew $31,603.55 from the Fidelity account in 

April 2010, another $26,910.53 in June 2010, and a final 

withdrawal of $109,099.46 in November 2010. CP. 370-

372. 

By the time Ms. Gass garnished the Fidelity account, 

the balance was only $40,199 instead of $107,787 set forth 

in the Decree. CP. 64-65. These withdrawals from the 
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Fidelity account are on top of Mr. Abdei-Wahed's regular 

Microsoft salary of $118,275.17 in 2009 and $111,699.73 in 

2010. CP 102-109. Mr. Abdei-Wahed's health did not 

impact his earnings until 2011 during which he still managed 

to earn almost $50,000. CP, 106. 

Mr. Abdei-Wahed's apparent suggestion that his 

looting of the Fidelity account in early 2010 was 

necessitated by his failing health is ridiculous. The looting 

started as soon as the Arbitrator rendered a decision Mr. 

Abdei-Wahed didn't like so he took matters into his own 

hands and simply ignored the Court. At the time Mr. Abdei

Wahed began looting the Fidelity account there was in place 

a Temporary Order entered March 5, 2010 restraining the 

parties "from transferring, removing, encumbering, 

concealing or in any way disposing of the property." CP, 

111-116. 

5. In addition, Ms. Gass tried to enforce the Decree through a 

series of contempt motions, arrest warrants, garnishments, 

and other court proceedings. The details of the ensuing 

prolonged and expensive game of hide and seek are not all 
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relevant to this proceeding and will not be related in detail. 

What is relevant is that the Superior Court issued an Order 

and Judgment of Contempt against Mr. Abdei-Wahed on 

August 8, 2012, in the amount of $190,318.25. CP, 352. 

This amount included $50,400 in unpaid spousal 

maintenance, $96,760.35 in un-transferred accounts, 

$27,966.97 in interest through June 1, 2012, $14,526.00 in 

attorney's fees, and $665.03 in costs. CP, 352. The Order 

and Judgment also ordered that the home awarded to Mr. 

Abdei-Wahed be sold and authorized Ms. Gass to do so 

under the supervision of the Court. CP, 356. 

6. On September 14. 2012, Mr. Abdei-Wahed was arrested by 

the police on a bench warrant for contempt. To effectuate 

the arrest, the police had to smash through the rear sliding 

glass door of the subject home after Mr. Abdei-Wahed 

refused to open the door to police. Though Mr. Abdei

Wahed was released from jail on the same day as he was 

arrested, it is believed he never reoccupied the premises. 

Shortly after his release from jail, he cut off the utilities to 

the premises, stopped mailing mortgage payments. failed to 

replace the destroyed sliding glass door, and began 
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removing his personal property from the premises. Ms. 

Gass took possession of the premises, repaired the door, 

cleaned the premises, and retained a realtor to market the 

property. CP. 120-121. 

7. Two weeks after his arrest and after vacating the premises, 

Mr. Abdei-Wahed recorded a Declaration of Homestead on 

September 28.2012. CP, 118-119. 

8. On November 28, 2012 the home was sold to a third party 

resulting in net proceeds in the amount of $175,074.08. 

CP. 93. 

9. On December 18, 2012, pursuant to agreement of counsel, 

$50,400 of the sales proceeds were paid to Ms. Gass as 

payment of the principal sum due for past spousal 

maintenance under the judgment described in Paragraph 5 

above. CP. 412. 

10. The remainder of the sale proceeds total $124,510.08. The 

remainder of the Ms. Gass' unsatisfied contempt judgment 

is $139,318.35. 

Mr. Abdel-Wahed refused to pay any of the remaining 

proceeds of the sale to Ms. Gass claiming the unsatisfied 

remainder of her judgment is protected by the Homestead Act. 
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This consolidated action was commenced with the result 

that the trial court imposed a constructive trust on the proceeds of 

sale and awarded Ms. Gass a judgment for a substantial portion of 

the proceeds of sale. Mr. Abdei-Wahed appealed and the Court of 

Appeals affirmed. Mr. Abdei-Wahed now petitions the Supreme 

Court for review. 

ARGUMENT 

1. The Court of Appeals Did Not Create a New Non-statutory 

Exception to the Protections of the Homestead Act. The 

Court of Appeals did not create a new non-statutory 

exception to the protection of the Homestead Act, but 

merely applied the non-statutory exception created by this 

Court in Webster v. Rodrick fifty years ago. Webster v. 

Rodrick. 64 Wn. 2d 814 (1964). In that decision, this Court 

held that under circumstances which would ordinarily entitle 

a person to claim a "constructive trust in, or an equitable 

lien against" homestead property, the protections of the 

Homestead Act "cannot defeat the right to enforce the trust 

or lien on the ground that it is homestead property and 

exempt from the claims of creditors." Supra at 818. 
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The trial court found that "the defendant Mr. Abdei

Wahed intentionally and in bad faith "looted" the investment 

accounts which were supposed to be transferred to plaintiff 

Ms. Gass as part of the Decree, and was unjustly enriched 

by doing so. Mr. Abdei-Wahed has never challenged that 

finding. The trial court, expressly relying on Webster v. 

Rodrick, imposed a constructive trust. CP 201. 

The Court of Appeals characterized the Petitioners 

fa1lure to transfer the investment accounts as "intentionally 

culpable conduct." Court of Appeals Decision at A-9. The 

Court of Appeals held that ''the trial court appropriately 

relied on Webster as authority to impose the constructive 

trust." ld at A-9. 

As the trial court and the Court of appeals both 

concluded, Mr. Abdei-Wahed's argument is without merit for 

two reasons. 

First, Mr. Abdei-Wahed was ordered to pay the parties' 

mortgage on the residence. CP, 271. He did make the 

mortgage payments until shortly after his arrest on the 

contempt warrant in September, 2012. CP, 120-121. He 

further admits that he took money from the investment 
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accounts "in order to meet my living expenses." CP, 37 4. 

In November, 2012 when the residence was sold to a third 

party, neither the Closing Statement (CP, 364-365) nor the 

title insurance report (CP, 364-365) show any indication that 

the mortgage was delinquent. Nor has Mr. Abdei-Wahed 

ever denied he paid the mortgage. He merely argues that 

there is no evidence that he did so. 

In Webster, this Court expressly cited the use of 

embezzled funds to make mortgage payments as a basis 

for denying the protections of the Homestead Act. Webster 

at 819. 

Secondly, the parties Decree of Dissolution equally 

divided the community property. Respondent's interest in 

the marital home was awarded to the Mr. Abdei-Wahed and 

his interest in the parties' investment accounts was awarded 

to the Ms. Gass. Mr. Abdei-Wahed "looted" the investment 

accounts and thus, in effect, attempted ''to use the 

homestead exemption to avoid paying for the home." Court 

of Appeals Decision at A-9. The "looted" funds are directly 

tied to the homestead property. 
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Mr. Abdei-Wahed also argues that the lower courts' 

decision in this case creates a "direct conflict with the 

holding of Division Ill in Baker v. Baker, 149 Wn. App. 208 

(2009). Mr. Abdei-Wahed is wrong for the following 

reasons: 

First, Baker did not involve "looted" or otherwise 

wrongfully obtained funds belonging to the other spouse. 

The Baker Court was not asked to consider any claim 

involving Webster. Baker merely involved a wife seeking to 

enforce a monetary judgment against her former husband 

by executing on one of five contiguous parcels of land 

owned by the former husband. 

Second, the only issue before the Court in Baker was 

whether the one of five contiguous parcels upon which the 

ex-wife sought to execute was part of the homestead and 

thus exempt under the Homestead Act because the ex

husband lived in a house located on one of the parcels. 

Baker at 210. The Court held that "because the use and 

enjoyment of a residence includes the surrounding 
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property" all five lots were included within the homestead 

and thus exempt for execution. 

The Baker case is not remotely relevant to the present 

case. There is no conflict between Baker and the Court of 

Appeals decision in this case. 

The Court of Appeals decision in this case was based 

on a clear and proper application of this Court's decision in 

Webster and not on the creation of any newly created 

exception to the protections of the Homestead Act. 

2. The Lower Court Properly Imposed a Constructive Trust. 

Mr. Abdei-Wahed contends that the authority granted by the 

declaratory judgment statute does not include the authority 

to fashion equitable relief such as a constructive trust. Mr. 

Abdei-Wahed did not make this argument to the trial court in 

response to Ms. Gass' motion for summary judgment and 

he did not identify any rationale which allows him to claim it 

for the first time on appeal. Court of Appeals Decision at A-

4. 

The Complaint in the Declaratory Judgment portion of 

this case asked the Court to award Ms. Gass the proceeds 

from the sale of the parties' former home and to grant "such 
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other and further relief as the Court finds just and 

equitable." CP, 1-3. The Court was asked to exercise its 

equitable powers and without objection at the time did so. 

A Court sitting in equity "may fashion broad remedies to do 

substantial justice" whether or not the remedy ordered was 

specifically sought. Hough v. Stockbridge, 150 Wn. 2d 234, 

236 (2003). Indeed, "when the equitable jurisdiction of the 

court is involved ... whatever relief the facts warrant will be 

granted." Marriage of Lanaham, 153 Wn. 2d 553, 560 

(2005). 

Furthermore, the declaratory judgment sought in this 

case was a continuation of a divorce action over which the 

trial court exercised original and continuing equitable 

jurisdiction. An order was entered in the trial court 

consolidating the Declaratory Judgment action (King County 

Case No. 13-2-03411-5 SEA) and the Dissolution of 

Marriage action (King County Case No. 09-3-07405-8 SEA), 

in which was then pending Ms. Gass' motion to modify the 

Decree of Dissolution asking that the property division be 

modified to award her the home and award Mr. Abdei

Wahed the investment accounts he had already looted. 
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CP, 150. When the trial court entered its Order on Cross 

Motions for Summary Judgment, it entered orders in both 

the declaratory case and the Dissolution Case. CP, 199. 

Whatever limitations on jurisdiction may exist in a strictly 

limited declaratory action involving. for example, the 

interpretation of a contract. those limitations do not apply in 

this consolidated case involving continuing jurisdiction of an 

equitable dissolution proceeding and a related declaratory 

action specifically seeking equitable relief which arises out 

of the dissolution action. 

In Marriage of Langham, 153 Wn. 2d 553 (2005) the 

court dealt with a post decree claim that the former husband 

violated the property division in the decree by converting 

certain stock options. The husband argued that a claim of 

conversion was a separate tort action at law that could not 

be decided in a motion made in the dissolution case. In 

ruling in favor of the wife, the court reasoned as follows: 

Having before it at the outset a cause cognizable in 

equity, the court retains jurisdiction over the subject 

matter and the parties to be affected by its decree for all 
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purposes-to administer equity among the parties 

according to law or equity. [Citation omitted] 

The superior court unquestionably has authority to 

enforce property settlements. RCW 26.12.01 0. It 

further has the authority to use "any suitable process or 

mode of proceeding" to settle disputes over which it has 

jurisdiction ... Indeed, "when the equitable jurisdiction of 

the court is invoked ... whatever relief the facts warrant 

will be granted." [Citation omitted] Marriage of 

Langham, supra at 560. 

In the present consolidated case, the trial court had the 

authority to invoke a constructive trust as a necessary 

measure of settling the dispute over the funds ''looted" by Mr. 

Abdei-Wahed in a blatant disregard of the court's decree of 

dissolution. The court further correctly relied on Webster in 

applying the equitable protections of the constructive trust to 

the proceeds from the sale of the parties' former marital 

home. 
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3. The Petition for Review Fails to Meet the Criteria for Review 

Under RAP 13.4(b). 

Under RAP 13.4(b), the Supreme Court will accept 

review only if at least one of four listed criteria are met. 

None of the four criteria for review have been met in this 

case. 

The decision of the Court of appeals is not in conflict 

with the Supreme Court's decision in Webster but merely 

applies it to the facts of this case. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case is not 

in conflict with Division Ill's decision in Baker as that case 

did not consider Webster or any exemptions to the 

Homestead Act. 

The present case raises no significant questions of law 

under either the State or Federal Constitutions. 

The petition does not involve any issue of substantial 

public interest. Indeed, the Court of Appeals Decision is 

unpublished. Mr. Abdei-Wahed did not timely file a motion 

requesting publication of the Court of Appeals Decision 

under RAP 12.3(e). Furthermore, without publication, the 
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Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in this case cannot 

be cited as authority in further cases. GR 14.1 (a). Under 

these circumstances, there can be no "substantial public 

interest" in this case. 

4. The question of attorney's fees awarded by the court of 

appeals will not be addressed as that Issue should be/or 

has been directed to that Court. 

5. Ms. Gass does request attorney's fees incurred in replying 

to the Petition for Review under RCW 26.09.140 as this 

case is a continuation of the original dissolution action. 

Seals v. Seals, 22 Wn. App. 652, 657 (1979) 

CONCLUSION 

The courts below did not create a new non-statutory 

exemption to the homestead but merely applied such an exemption 

first articulated by this Court in Webster 50 years ago. 

The courts below had the authority and jurisdiction in this 

consolidated case to impose a constructive trust as an appropriate 

remedy to settle the dispute between the parties arising from Mr. 

Abdei-Wahed's looting of the investment accounts awarded to Ms. 

Gass.

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